## No. S271721

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

## TINA TURRIETA, Plaintiff,

v.

LYFT, INC., Defendant.

On Review from a Decision by the Court of Appeal Second Appellate District, Division Four, Case No. B304701; Superior Court of the County of Los Angeles, Case No. BC714153, The Honorable Dennis J. Landin

#### PETITIONER BRANDON OLSON'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Does a plaintiff in a representative action filed under the Private Attorneys General Act, Labor Code section 2698, *et seq*. ("PAGA"), have the right to intervene, or object to, or move to vacate, a judgment in a related action that purports to settle the claims that plaintiff has brought on behalf of the State?

#### INTRODUCTION

[W]here two PAGA actions involve overlapping PAGA claims and a settlement of one is purportedly unfair, it follows that the PAGA representative in the separate action may seek to become a party to the settling action and appeal the fairness of the settlement as part of his or her role as an effective advocate for the state.

(Moniz v. Adecco USA, Inc. (2022) 72 Cal.App.5th 56, 73 (Moniz).)

This case presents the question of the scope of a duly deputized plaintiff's right to prosecute and resolve claims brought on behalf of the State in a PAGA action, and how those rights are affected by the prosecution of parallel actions involving overlapping claims.

Petitioner and proposed Intervenor Brandon Olson is a duly deputized agent of the State of California, litigating claims under the PAGA against Defendant Lyft, Inc. ("Lyft"). When the PAGA claims in his case were settled in this action by Plaintiff Tina Turrieta, Olson objected, attempted to intervene, and ultimately moved to set aside the judgment approving a settlement that involved a more than 99.5% discount of the value of the PAGA penalties at issue. Although no one disputes that Olson is authorized to prosecute the PAGA claims that Turrieta and Lyft purport to fully and finally resolve by settlement, the trial court concluded Olson did not have standing to object to the settlement, to intervene, or to move to vacate the judgment entered after the settlement was approved. The Second District Court of Appeal agreed, and also held that Olson was not an "aggrieved party" with standing to appeal the judgment. (*Turrieta v. Lyft, Inc.* (2021) 69 Cal.App.5th 955, 970–74 (*Turrieta*).)

The Court of Appeal's opinion cannot stand. *First*, a PAGA plaintiff discharging his responsibility as the State's proxy may intervene when it is necessary to protect the State's interest in an overlapping action. Olson has a right to intervene in this action under the standards for either mandatory or permissive intervention, because the State has a sufficient material interest in the claims Turrieta pursues and proposes to extinguish by a settlement and corresponding judgment.

*Second*, that same interest unquestionably gives Olson, as the State's deputy for claims covered by a judgment, the right to move to vacate that judgment where it purports to fully and finally extinguish those claims. The State, with Olson acting as its agent, is a party aggrieved by the judgment who may seek to vacate the judgment and appeal any denial thereof.

*Third*, it follows that a trial court considering a potential settlement of Labor Code claims that another PAGA plaintiff has been deputized to prosecute, must consider objections raised by the State, through its proxy, to the proposed settlement of claims in a parallel action.

These standards are neither controversial nor complicated. Indeed, the Court of Appeal recognized the State's interest and the power of its deputized plaintiffs. It understood that Olson had standing to prosecute the State's claims and even to settle those claims. But then it veered sharply off course, holding that Olson somehow *lost* standing to seek to vacate the trial court's judgment on behalf of the State. In other words, the appellate court concluded that, by virtue of attempting to enter this action to defend the State's interests, Olson's interest in the case was transformed from that of agent of the State to an "individual claim" that stripped him of standing. (*Turrieta, supra*, 69 Cal.App.5th at p. 974.)

This rationale was also the basis of the Court of Appeal's erroneous holding that Olson did not have "a direct and immediate interest in the settlement, which would establish [his] entitlement to mandatory or permissive intervention." (*Turrieta*, *supra*, 69 Cal.App.5th at p. 977.) According to the court, the trial court's "implicit denial" of Olson's motion to intervene was justified "for the same reason [he] could not establish [he was] 'aggrieved' for the purposes of standing." (*Ibid*.)

The Court of Appeal's decision conflicts sharply with two opinions issued shortly thereafter—both of which recognize that a PAGA plaintiff has a direct, immediate, and pecuniary interest in a parallel proceeding with overlapping claims. (See *Moniz, supra*, 72 Cal.App.5th at p. 73, and *Uribe v. Crown Bldg. Maint. Co.* (2021) 70 Cal.App.5th 986, 990–91 (*Uribe*), as modified on denial of reh'g (Oct. 26, 2021). In *Uribe*, the Fourth District Court of

Appeal held that a duly deputized plaintiff had standing to challenge the PAGA settlement of a different deputized plaintiff because the former had "the requisite 'immediate, pecuniary, and substantial' interest in preserving and advancing her PAGA cause of action in her lawsuit, which would be extinguished by res judicata if the judgment" were approved. (*Uribe, supra*, 70 Cal.App.5th at pp. 990–91.) The First District Court of Appeal's opinion in *Moniz* held the same, and explicitly disapproved of the decision of the Court of Appeal here.

The decision here risks repeated application of an entirely erroneous standard that only confuses the role of the PAGA plaintiff. The Court of Appeal offers no basis to conclude why Olson's efforts to assert *the State's interest* in a parallel action morphed into the "personal interests" of a litigant pursuing "individual claims." (*Turrieta, supra*, 69 Cal.App.5th at p. 974.) Nor does the Court of Appeal cite any authority or any part of the record justifying these conclusions. What the court demands instead is that the State—not its proxy—appear at the trial court at or before the time of settlement if it wants to be heard.

This "solution" is as impractical as it unwarranted by PAGA's own terms. The State has deputized Olson with the authority to offer precisely that perspective. And it ignores what this Court has repeatedly recognized about the limited resources of the state agency, the Labor & Workforce Development Agency ("LWDA"), which gave rise to PAGA in the first instance. Left to stand, the Court of Appeal's decision would establish a dangerous precedent of eliminating review of even patently unfair, unreasonable, and inadequate settlements, like the one at issue here, by denying the State its right to protect its interests.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

## I. Olson Was Deputized by the LWDA to Prosecute PAGA Claims and Seek Civil Penalties on Behalf of the State Against Lyft.

On May 24, 2018, in compliance with the statutory requirements, Olson provided notice to the LWDA and to Lyft of violations of the Labor Code experienced by him and all other aggrieved employees (California Lyft drivers during the relevant period). Specifically, Olson asserted that Lyft had been misclassifying drivers as independent contractors in violation of the California "ABC test" for employment status established by this Court in Dynamex Ops. W. v. Super. Ct. (2018) 4 Cal.5th 903 (Dynamex).  $(2 \text{ AA } 311-312.)^1$  Olson alleged that as a result of this misclassification, Lyft was failing to pay minimum wages, overtime premiums, and business expenses as required by the Labor Code and applicable Wage Orders of the Department of Industrial Relations ("Wage Orders"). (Id.) On May 24, 2018, Olson filed a Complaint, Olson v. Lyft, Inc. (the "Olson Action"), in the San Francisco Superior Court alleging class action claims under the Labor Code. (2 AA 307.) On August 16, 2018, after the statutory 65-day waiting period expired, Olson filed a First Amended Complaint adding PAGA claims for the wage violations identified in his notice to the LWDA and to Lyft.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Record citations are to the respective volumes of Appellant Olson's Appendix ("AA"), on file at the Court of Appeal.

On July 13, 2018, Turrieta filed the instant action against Lyft in the Los Angeles Superior Court. Like the Olson Action, this action alleged that Lyft has been misclassifying drivers as independent contractors. The Complaint sought to recover civil penalties "for each Labor Code violation described herein." (1 AA 14.) The Complaint states that Turrieta "gave notice to the Labor and Workforce Development Agency and the employer of the specific provisions of the Labor Code alleged to be violated in this Complaint." (1 AA 14.) The Complaint seeks penalties for violations of just five Labor Code statutes, including Labor Code sections 203 (waiting time penalties); 204 (failure to timely pay wages); 226(a) (wage statement violations); 226.8 (willful misclassification); 2802 (failure to reimburse expenses); and "Paragraph 3 of the applicable Wage Order" for failure to pay overtime wages. (1 AA 16.) Turrieta did not assert minimum wage violations, meal period violations, or rest period violations. (Id.)

In April 2019, concerned about the risk of inconsistent judgments and the potential for Lyft to settle the State's claims in all actions with the lowest bidder, Olson filed a petition to coordinate his action with this action and three others asserting misclassification claims: *Talbot v. Lyft, Inc.*, Superior Court, County of San Francisco, Case No. CGC-18-566392 (class action); *LaBorde v. Lyft, Inc.*, Superior Court, County of Los Angeles, Case No. BC707667 (class action); and *Seifu v. Lyft, Inc.*, Superior Court, County of Los Angeles, Case No. BC712959 (PAGA action). Lyft and the plaintiffs in all other actions opposed coordination. (2 AA 438.) The trial court denied Olson's petition on June 27, 2019, reasoning that because *Olson* and *Talbot* were on appeal<sup>2</sup> and *Seifu* and this action were stayed, coordination was not warranted. (2 AA 440-441.)<sup>3</sup>

As Olson correctly predicted, the failure to coordinate these cases created the conditions for a "reverse auction," whereby each plaintiff's counsel in the overlapping cases would suffer from pressure to settle *all* the cases at a steep discount. Lyft employed a strategy to play the different plaintiffs' counsel against each other in order to drive down the overall settlement value, to the detriment of the State. Lyft scheduled separate, serial mediations in each case, to which competing plaintiffs' counsel were not invited. First, on June 12, 2019, Lyft mediated with Seifu's counsel (who also represented Talbot); no settlement was reached. Next, on August 27, 2019, Lyft mediated with Olson's counsel; no settlement was reached. Finally, on September 10, 2019, while the *Turrieta* case was stayed, Lyft mediated with Turrieta's counsel (who also represented Laborde); those parties agreed to the settlement at issue here, purporting to wipe out all the claims in the other PAGA cases. (1 AA 108, 105-119.)

On September 18, 2019, the Governor signed Assembly Bill 5, which codified aspects of the *Dynamex* decision in the Labor

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Lyft appealed its unsuccessful motion to compel Olson's PAGA claims to arbitration, and the trial court's decision was affirmed in October 2020. *Olson v. Lyft, Inc.* (2020) 56 Cal.App.5th 862. <sup>3</sup> This action had been stayed in March 2019 by the trial court upon Lyft's request pending resolution of the *Seifu* action as the earlier filed action. (2 AA 441.)

Code. (See Lab. Code § 2775.) The bill unequivocally strengthened the aggrieved employees' misclassification claims against Lyft.

#### II. Turrieta Settles PAGA Claims Against Lyft While Her Case Is Stayed and Expands Her Action to Include PAGA Claims She Had Not Exhausted with the LWDA.

Turrieta and Lyft executed a settlement agreement on December 4, 2019, while this action was stayed and nearly three months after AB 5 was signed. (1 AA 105-119.) The settlement purported to resolve the PAGA claims of the State and over 500,000 Lyft drivers for \$15 million—claims that Turrieta and Lyft concede were conservatively valued at over \$10 *billion*. (1 AA 80-83; 1 AA 107.) The settlement included an allocation of \$5 million to drivers as underpaid wages pursuant to Labor Code section 558, a payment to the State of approximately \$3.2 million, and over \$5 million in attorneys' fees and costs. (1 AA 105-119 ¶ III(C)(vi)(i).)

Another key term of the settlement required Turrieta to file a First Amended Complaint that "covers *all* PAGA claims that could have been brought against Lyft," in order for Lyft to obtain a release of those claims. (1 AA 108.) The claims released in the settlement thus included (1) claims that were not originally asserted in this action (and were expressly disclaimed) but which had been asserted in the *Olson* Action; and (2) claims about which Turrieta failed to provide the statutorily required notice to the LWDA. (*Id.*; compare 1 AA 11 and 1 AA 251.) Turrieta's original complaint alleges six causes of action and states that notice was provided only for "the specific provisions of the Labor Code alleged to be violated in this Complaint." (1 AA 11.) Her settlement, signed on December 4, 2019, purports to release, on behalf of the State, all PAGA claims under all provisions of the Labor Code that could have been asserted by the State or by any aggrieved employee. (1 AA 105-119 ¶¶ I(S), I(V), V.) That release covers claims that Olson was specifically deputized to prosecute on behalf of the State, including claims for Lyft's violations of minimum wage, meal period, and rest period obligations. (1 AA 107, 114.)

On December 9, 2019, aware of her statutory obligation to provide notice to the LWDA of any alleged PAGA violations by an employer prior to commencing suit, Turrieta provided notice to the LWDA via its online portal, attaching a draft First Amended Complaint that "identifies additional specific provisions of the Labor Code alleged to have been violated." (1 AA 251.) Rather than wait the statutorily required 65 days, however, Turrieta submitted the First Amended Complaint the same day, along with her motion for approval of the settlement. (1 AA 27-29, 268-280.) Turrieta set the approval hearing for January 2, 2020. (1 AA 27.) Neither Turrieta nor Lyft notified counsel for Olson or Seifu of the settlement, the motion for approval, or the approval hearing. Olson learned of the settlement on December 20, 2019. On December 23, 2019, Turrieta's counsel informed Olson's counsel that he had kept the settlement confidential at Lyft's request. (2 AA 308.)

#### III. Olson Moves to Intervene and, After the Trial Court Approves the Settlement, to Vacate the Judgment.

On December 24, 2019, Olson filed a Motion to Intervene and Objections to the *Turrieta* settlement. In his motion, Olson notified the court that he had just learned of the settlement four days prior, and argued that he was entitled to intervene as a matter of right under Code of Civil Procedure section 387(d)(1), or alternatively should be granted permissive intervention under section 387(d)(2). (1 AA 281-284.)

Olson's proposed Complaint in Intervention contained the same PAGA claims he had been deputized by the LWDA to assert and was asserting in his parallel action. Olson sought penalties related to Lyft's: (1) willful misclassification (Labor Code section 226.8); (2) failure to reimburse Lyft Drivers for their expenses (Labor Code section 2802); (3) failure to pay overtime (Labor Code sections 510, 1194, 1198, and Wage Order 9); (4) failure to pay minimum wage (Labor Code sections 1182.12, 1194, 1194.2, 1197, 1197.1, 1199, and Wage Order 9); (5) failure to provide itemized wage statements (Labor Code section 226(a)); (6) failure to provide meal periods (Labor Code section 512) and rest breaks (Labor Code section 226.7 and Wage Order 9); and (7) failure to keep accurate payroll records (Labor Code section 1174). (2 AA 310-321.)

Because the court set Olson's hearing date on his motion to intervene for April 2020, Olson filed an *ex parte* application to continue the January 2, 2020 settlement approval hearing until the motion to intervene could be heard. (2 AA 360.) The trial

court denied Olson's application, stating that it did not believe Olson had standing to be heard on the appropriateness of the settlement, and there were no exigent circumstances warranting relief. (2 AA 498.)

Olson's motion to intervene also raised several specific objections to numerous aspects of the settlement, including the fact that the proposed \$15 million to resolve the claims of the State and more than 500,000 aggrieved employees represented a more than 99.5% discount on the value of the released PAGA claims, which Turrietta conceded are worth at least \$10 billion. (See 1 AA 295-300.)

Counsel for Turrieta, Lyft, Olson, and Seifu appeared at the hearing on Turrieta's Motion for Approval of the Settlement on January 2, 2020. Olson and Seifu argued their objections to the settlement. (3 AA 665-673.) Counsel for Turrieta argued that Olson and Seifu lacked standing to intervene or object because the case "belongs exclusively to the State." (3 AA 666:26.)

The trial court approved the Settlement the same day. (2 AA 498-499; 3 AA 569.) In its order, the court stated that it believed Olson and Seifu did not have standing to be heard because the "real party in interest is the State of California," citing *Amalgamated Transit Union, Local 1756, AFL-CIO v. Super. Ct.* (2009) 46 Cal.4th 993. (2 AA 498.) The court explicitly overruled Seifu's objections to the settlement, but did not address Olson's objections. (2 AA 499.) The court also stated that it "will not assume that the State of California [has] not read and seriously considered the proposed settlement....it is the real party in interest and by not filing an opposition to the settlement, the Court assumes that it agrees that the settlement is appropriate." (*Id.*)

The court entered judgment on January 6, 2020. (2 AA 516.) On January 14, 2020, Olson timely filed a motion to vacate the judgment pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure section 663. (3 AA 536-554.) He argued that the trial court erred in approving the settlement because (1) the provision allocating \$5 million as underpaid wages pursuant to Labor Code section 558 was barred by this Court's decision in *ZB*, *N.A. v. Super. Ct.* (2019) 8 Cal.5th 175 (*ZB*, *N.A.*); (2) the court erred in finding the claims would not be resolved under the ABC test in *Dynamex*, and, as a result, undervalued the claims and unreasonably found the settlement amount to be adequate; (3) the court ignored the undisputed facts suggesting that Lyft reverse-auctioned the State's claims; and (4) the court erred in finding that Olson lacked standing to intervene. (3 AA 536-554.) Both Lyft and Turrieta opposed the motion. (3 AA 636, 675.)

The trial court heard Olson's motion on February 28, 2020. At the hearing, the trial court stated "[t]o the extent that my previous order didn't reflect that I found that Mr. Seifu and Mr. Olson do not have standing to object, I want to make it clear that my view is they do not have standing to object to this settlement [and] are not parties that would have standing to bring a motion to set aside the judgment [under section 663]." (2/28/20 RT at 317:5-15.) In a minute order filed the same day, the court denied Olson's motion. (3 AA 709.) The court also

vacated the April 7, 2020 hearing on Olson's motion to intervene, and never ruled on the motion. (*Id.*)

# IV. The Court of Appeal Affirms the Trial Court's Erroneous Orders and Judgment.

Olson timely appealed, challenging the trial court's denial of his motion to intervene, the denial of his motion to vacate the judgment, and the judgment following approval of the settlement. Seifu also appealed and filed briefs on the same issues. In a published decision, the Court of Appeal affirmed the judgment and the orders denying intervention and vacation of the judgment. (*Turrieta, supra,* 69 Cal.App.5th at p. 977.)

The appellate court first addressed Olson's motion to vacate the judgment and his appeal of the denial of that motion. The court recognized that a nonparty who is "aggrieved" by a judgment may move to vacate the judgment pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure section 663, and may appeal from any order denying that motion pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure section 902. (*Turrieta*, 69 Cal.App.5th at pp. 970–71, citing *Hernandez v. Restoration Hardware, Inc.* (2018) 4 Cal.5th 260, 267 (*Hernandez*).) The court also recognized Olson's status as a plaintiff duly deputized by the State to prosecute the same claims on behalf of the State that Plaintiff Turrieta settled in this action. (*Id.* at pp. 962, 971–72.)

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