Case No. S271721

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

TINA TURRIETA Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

LYFT, INC., Defendant and Respondent.

BRANDON OLSON, Petitioner.

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division Four, Case No. B304701 Superior Court Case No. BC714153

RESPONDENT TINA TURRIETA'S ANSWER TO BRANDON OLSON'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

THE GRAVES FIRM
Allen Graves (S.B. No. 204580)
Jacqueline Treu (S.B. No. 247927)
122 N. Baldwin Avenue, Main Floor
Sierra Madre, CA 91024
Telephone: (626) 240-0575
allen@gravesfirm.com
jacqueline@gravesfirm.com
Attorney for Plaintiff and Respondent
TINA TURRIETA

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

Olson asks rhetorically "what purpose would it serve to direct notice to the LWDA of any settlement if the LWDA, or its agent, was not permitted to weigh in before any such settlement was approved?" Olson's position ignores the fact that the LWDA does receive notice and can appear to offer commentary. Labor Code §2699(1)(2). There is no role for a proxy.

B. The PAGA Does Not Convey Any Unconditional Right to Intervene

The only law that addresses an absolute right to intervene is <u>Cal. Code of Civ. Proc. §387(d)(1)(A)</u>. That provision provides for intervention where "a provision of law confers an unconditional right to intervene." The PAGA provides no such provision.

Intervention under the other provisions of <u>Section 387</u> requires the moving party to establish multiple factors including that her application is timely, and that her interest is not adequately represented. In weighing these factors, "a trial court has broad discretion in determining whether to permit intervention." <u>City of Malibu v. California Coastal Com.</u>, 128 Cal. App. 4th 897, 902 (2005).

C. A PAGA Litigant Does Not Have a Direct and Immediate Interest Supporting Intervention

Although the question articulated by this Court refers specifically to a "right" to intervene, Respondent believes that this Court may intend the parties to address the narrower question of whether a PAGA litigant under these circumstances has the kind of "direct and immediate interest" that is a necessary (but not sufficient) element of both mandatory and permissive intervention. See, e.g., Siena Court Homeowners Assn. v. Green Valley Corp., 164 Cal. App. 4th 1416, 1423 (2008).

Here again, the answer is no. The PAGA bestows no interest at all on any employee. <u>Amalgamated Transit</u>, 46 Cal. 4th at 1003. This Court has reiterated that basic rule "[A]bsent employees do not own a personal claim for PAGA civil penalties . . . whatever personal claims the absent employees might have for relief are not at stake." <u>Williams v. Superior Court</u>, 3 Cal. 5th 531, 547 n.4 (2017). Olson argues that he possesses the same direct and immediate interest as the State. But there is no statute to suggest that he does. <u>Labor Code §2699(1)(2)</u> provides strong evidence that the State has not authorized any PAGA litigant to participate with regard to any settlement but her own.

Legislative history supports this conclusion. MJN Exh. 3.

Olson cites *Knight v. Alefosio*, 158 Cal. App. 3d 716, 721 (1984) for the proposition that Olson's interest as the State's proxy "is harmed by the direct legal operation and effect of the judgment." OBM p. 46. Incorrect. The *Knight* court actually upheld denial of intervention for an insurer that wanted to claim a subrogation interest. *Id.* at 723.

VI. THE PAGA DOES NOT CONFER A RIGHT TO OBJECT TO SETTLEMENTS IN OVERLAPPING ACTIONS

Even *Moniz*, on which Petitioner relies extensively, could identify no reason that PAGA litigants might have a right to object to a settlement in a related action that purports to settle overlapping claims. The plain language of <u>Labor Code §2699(l)(2)</u> and the fact that language omits any reference to other PAGA litigants is dispositive. *Moniz*, 72 Cal. App. 5th 56, 79; citing to <u>Scottsdale Indemnity Co. v. National Continental Ins. Co.</u>, 229 Cal. App. 4th 1166, 1172 (2014) (in construing statutes, courts generally will not add words to the statutory language). Put simply, there is no way to find a right for overlapping PAGA litigants to object when the law does not even provide for them to receive notice of settlements.

The textual analysis in *Moniz* is informative beyond the question of objection. Olson asks this Court to infer from the

PAGA a legislative intent to bestow the power to intervene and seek to overturn judgments in related PAGA actions. But how can we make such an inference once we conclude that the plain language of the statute does not even allow a PAGA representative from a related action to object? By what logic would the law deny Olson the right to object, but grant him the power to derail proceedings for years by appealing a judgment?

Moniz is not alone. In <u>Harvey v. Morgan Stanley</u>, 2020 U.S. <u>Dist. LEXIS 37580</u>, Olson's counsel represented another PAGA objector who followed the exact same pattern: seeking intervention in a related action, filing objections, and ultimately appealing a PAGA settlement. <u>Id. at 32-33</u>. The <u>Harvey</u> objector used the exact same language that Olson uses here to justify her objection. "Chen submits objections to the PAGA-portion of this settlement in her representative proxy capacity on behalf of the State of California." Having denied intervention, the <u>Harvey</u> court began by explaining that "under applicable case law, PAGA aggrieved employees have no ability to exclude themselves or object to the Settlement." <u>Id.</u> at 32.

Harvey considered the objector's argument that a PAGA litigant could have standing as a "proxy" for the state and further considered the argument that standing to object to be derived from the claim that the objector would suffer prejudice as an

agent of the State. <u>Id.</u> The *Harvey* court then did the exact same thing the trial court did in this case: after holding that there was no standing to object, the court exercised its discretion to nonetheless consider and overrule each of the objector's arguments. <u>Id.</u> at 33-34.

VII. THE PAGA DOES NOT CONFER A RIGHT TO MOVE TO SET ASIDE JUDGMENTS IN OVERLAPPING ACTIONS

A. PAGA Litigants Lack the Required Interest

The same lack of an immediate and substantial pecuniary interest that precludes intervention also precludes standing to bring a motion to vacate. Olson cites *Hernandez*, 4 Cal. 5th at 267 to claim that he became a party by moving to vacate under Cal. Code of Civ. Proc. §663, but only "one who is *legally 'aggrieved'* by a judgment may become a party of record . . . by moving to vacate the judgment." *County of Alameda v. Carleson*, 5 Cal. 3d 730, 736-737 (1971) (emphasis supplied). "A party is aggrieved only if its rights or interests are injuriously affected by the judgment." *Sabi v. Sterling*, 183 Cal. App. 4th 916, 947 (2010). The interest "must be immediate, pecuniary, and substantial and not nominal or a remote consequence of the judgment." *Carleson*, 5 Cal. 3d at 737 (1971). "Injurious effect *on another party* is insufficient." *Conservatorship of Gregory D.*, 214 Cal. App. 4th 62, 67 (2013).

The rule described in *Gregory* is especially relevant here. Olson argues that he maintains a kind of "agent" or "proxy" relationship with the State. The principal of an agent or proxy is still a third party, and the law is explicit that injurious effect *on another party* is insufficient. *Gregory D.*, 214 Cal. App. 4th at 67.

Olson's claim that he can be injured as a proxy runs afoul of the structure of the PAGA. As one federal court explained, "Unnamed employees need not be given notice of the PAGA claim, nor do they have the ability to opt-out of the representative PAGA claim. There is no indication that the unnamed plaintiffs can contest a settlement, if any, reached between the parties."

Ochoa-Hernandez v. CJADERS Foods, Inc., 2010 U.S. Dist.

LEXIS 32774 at 13 (N.D. Cal. Apr. 2, 2010). Even if one finds that Section 2699(a) creates a proxy relationship for the purpose of initiating a civil action to recover penalties, the plain language of Section 2699(1)(2) prohibits a conclusion that proxy extends to challenging settlements in other cases.

B. Section 663 Cannot Bestow Standing in This Context

Olson's argument on this point fails because he was not aggrieved by the underlying judgment. However, Olson's reliance on *Hernandez*, 4 Cal. 5th at 267 to claim that he became a party by moving to vacate under Cal. Code of Civ. Proc. §663 presents another issue. Olson reads *Hernandez* as allowing a litigant to attain standing to appeal by filing any motion under Section 663,

even if that motion does not meet any requirements of <u>Section</u>
663 or seek any relief permitted by statute. Olson is incorrect.

The issue arises because of two limitations on the statute. First, under Section 663, a court cannot reconsider any of the underlying factual findings. "[O]n a motion under sections 663 and 663a of the Code of Civil Procedure no facts can be considered except those which are embraced in the findings of the court." Westervelt v. McCullough 68 Cal. App. 198, 210 (1924). See also, Simmons v. Dryer, 216 Cal. App. 2d 733, 739 (1963).

Second, Section 663 may not be used to continue litigation. A judgment "may, upon motion of the party aggrieved, be set aside and vacated . . . and another and different judgment entered." Cal. Code of Civ. Proc. §663. "[T]he only order within the power of the court is one setting aside the judgment and directing as part of the same order the entry of another judgment." Estate of Kerr, 127 Cal. App. 2d 521, 527-528 (1954) (emphasis supplied); citing to Dolan v. Superior Court, 47 Cal. App. 235, 236 (1920). "The statute does not contemplate merely the setting aside of the judgment, as does a motion for new trial or a motion for relief from default under C.C.P. 473. It expressly provides for vacating the judgment and entering of another judgment. Hence, an order of vacation, without directing entry of

a new judgment, is void." <u>Ramirez v. Moran</u>, 201 Cal. App. 3d 431, 435 (1988); see also, <u>20th Century Ins. Co. v. Superior Court</u>, 90 Cal. App. 4th 1247, 1260 (2001).

But the only relief Olson sought was forbidden under Section 663. First, Olson asked that the court reconsider factual finding that the settlement was "fair, adequate and reasonable." 3 AA 545-549. Second, Olson asked that the court "vacate the judgment and enter a different judgment or order denying approval of the Settlement." 3 AA 534:16-18. But there can be no judgment denying settlement approval; judgment must end litigation. Cal. Code of Civ. Proc. §577. Olson sought an order continuing litigation.

The fact that Olson did not seek any relief that was permitted under <u>Section 663</u> should mean that he cannot gain standing to appeal by virtue of that motion. A motion to vacate the judgment "cannot be considered as one made under [Section 663], as no other different judgment was substituted, nor was a request made [therefor]." <u>Bell v. American States Water Service</u> <u>Co., 10 Cal. App. 2d 604, 606 (1935)</u>.

In *Hernandez*, this Court was addressing a class member who already had a clear pecuniary interest. *Hernandez*, 4 Cal. 5th at 264-265. PAGA claims are different as the PAGA litigant has no personal interest. Holding that such a litigant can gain standing to appeal simply by filing a motion with a reference to

"Section 663" in its caption when that motion seeks no relief permissible under that statute is unsustainable.

Respondent submits that this Court should clarify its holding in *Hernandez* to specify that, where a party is aggrieved (Olson was not), a valid motion seeking relief permitted under Section 663 is required to establish standing to appeal.

VIII. PETITIONER'S ATTACKS ON THE TRIAL COURT'S FACTUAL FINDINGS FAIL

Petitioner devotes substantial briefing to issues for which this Court has not granted review.

A. Notice of Settlement

Olson complains because the settlement included an amended complaint setting forth claims arising from the same alleged misclassification of drivers, but which had not been described as separate causes of action. Respondent gave notice of the amended complaint to the LWDA at the same time she filed and gave notice of her request for settlement approval. 1 AA 81 ¶29, 1 AA 123. According to Olson, Turrieta should have waited 65 days after notice of the new complaint. OBM p. 40, 57.

Olson waived this argument because he did not raise it until his final reply before the trial court. Opinion, p. 20 n. 14 ("This issue is therefore forfeited"). Olson never explains why he raises an argument that the Court of Appeal held he had forfeited

when this Court did not grant review of that ruling. Trial courts do not consider arguments not pled in the moving papers.

St. Mary v. Superior Court, 223 Cal. App. 4th 762, 783 (2014).

Because it was not properly presented below, the argument is new on appeal and cannot be considered. Roger H. Proulx & Co. v. Crest-Liners, Inc., 98 Cal. App. 4th 182, 204 (2002). See also, Brandwein v. Butler, 218 Cal. App. 4th 1485, 1519 (2013).

Olson's argument also fails on the facts. The only order at issue in this appeal is denial of the motion to set aside judgment. 3 AA 711, 2 CT 483. That ruling came on February 28, 2020 – 81 days after Turrieta provided notice of the settlement, including the amendments to the complaint associated with the settlement. 1 AA 81 ¶29, 1 AA 121-123, 1 AA 90 ¶78, 1 AA 251-266.

The amended complaint was not necessary for settlement approval. "Taken together, the statutory scheme of the Private Attorneys General Act of 2004 (PAGA), <u>Labor Code</u>, § 2698 et seq., and the principles of preclusion allow, or authorize, a PAGA plaintiff to bind the state to a judgment through litigation that could extinguish PAGA claims that were not specifically listed in the PAGA notice where those claims involve the same primary right litigated." <u>Moniz</u>, 72 Cal. App. 5th at 83.

Olson also applies the wrong part of the statute. <u>Labor</u>

<u>Code §2699.3</u> provides that "a civil action . . . shall commence
only after the following requirements have been met." In this

case, Respondent was not commencing a new action; she was amending an existing action as part of a settlement. Notice of settlements is governed by Section 2699(1)(2), and Respondent followed that process.

Even if there were a defect (there was not), it was cured, as more than 65 elapsed after notice to the LWDA before judgment became final. 3 AA 711. See <u>Garnett v. ADT, LLC, 139 F. Supp. 3d 1121, 1127 (E.D. Cal. 2015); Harris v. Vector Mktg, 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 5659, 7-8 (N.D. Cal. Jan. 5, 2010); Hoang v. Vinh Phat Supermarket, 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 114475, 18-19 (E.D. Cal. Aug. 13, 2013).</u>

B. Section 558 Allocation

Olson contends that the allocation of <u>Labor Code §558</u> payments to aggrieved employees is contrary to <u>ZB, N.A. v.</u>

<u>Superior Court, 8 Cal. 5th 175 (2019)</u>. But the parties accepted the mediator's proposal (including this allocation) on September 10, 2019, before the ruling in <u>ZB</u> issued September 12, 2019.

3 AA 650:10-13; 3 AA 658 ¶4. The law does not require parties to rewrite an agreement under the circumstances. <u>Leroy Land Dev. v. Tahoe Regional Planning Agency, 939 F.2d 696, 698 (9th Cir. 1991); <u>Ehrheart v. Verizon Wireless, 609 F.3d 590, 595 (3d Cir. 2010)</u>.</u>

Moreover, the settlement does not conflict with ZB. That case held that "only the Labor Commissioner [can] issue a citation that includes both a civil penalty and the same unpaid wages . . ." ZB, 8 Cal. 5th at 188. But no citation issued here. This is a voluntary agreement to resolve disputed claims. The settlement is limited to PAGA and does not waive any wage claims. Nothing in ZB or any other authority forbids an agreement whereby an employer agrees to make payments beyond the statutory minimums to effect a settlement.

C. Value of Claims

Olson makes inaccurate statements regarding the value of the settled claims. For example, Olson he alleges that the September 18, 2019 enrollment of Assembly Bill 5, which codified aspects of the *Dynamex* decision, "unequivocally strengthens the aggrieved employees' misclassification claims against Lyft."

OBM p. 16. Olson's statement is false because the settlement in this case only runs through December 31, 2019, and AB 5 did not become effective until January 1, 2020. The settlement at issue here was thus limited to the period before *Dynamex*, and the interregnum between *Dynamex* and the effective date for AB 5. During this limited period of time, multiple elements of the *Dynamex* rule, including retroactive application and application to claims outside the wage order, were uncertain.

D. Intervention

Even if Olson had a direct and immediate interest (he does not), intervention would fail. "On appeal, a judgment of the trial court is presumed to be correct . . . if a judgment is correct on any theory, the appellate court will affirm it regardless of the trial court's reasoning." <u>Cahill v. San Diego Gas & Electric Co.</u>, 194 <u>Cal. App. 4th 939, 956 (2011)</u>. Here, the bases to deny intervention are manifold.

1. Olson's Request for Intervention was Untimely

Both permissive and mandatory intervention require an application be timely. "Timeliness is . . . one of the prerequisites for granting an application to intervene." N. Cal. Psychiatric

Soc'y v. City of Berkeley, 178 Cal. App. 3d 90, 109 (1986). See Cal.

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